# FILED

11/01/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0388

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

## No. DA 24-0388

IN THE MATTER OF: M. S.-L.

•

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF** 

On appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court,

> County of Silver Bow, Cause No. DA-24-388

Honorable Robert Whelan, Presiding

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Whether the District Court's Order Terminating Parental Rights violates statutory and due process requirements for termination, by:

a. Granting termination on a legal theory - previous termination of other children under similar circumstances - not pleaded by the Department in its petition, not supported by evidence or argument at hearing, and not factually supported in the termination order;

b. Failing to include complete and specific Findings of Fact sufficient to support the Court's determination; and

c. Presenting muddled, untethered boilerplate statutory excerpts as Conclusions of Law.

2. Whether the District Court erred in terminating Father's parental rights on the Department's theory of failure to complete a court-ordered treatment plan under 41-3-609(1)(f), M.C.A., when father was incarcerated.

3. Whether there was clear and convincing evidence to support termination on the grounds sought, including whether the Department made reasonable efforts to reunify the child with Father.

- 1 -

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

The Montana Department of Public Health and Human Services, Child and Family Services Division, brought this action for physical neglect of minor child M.S-L., on November 2, 2021, based on Mother's drug use during pregnancy. Petition for Adjudication, Doc. 1, pp. 7-8, par. 32.a. While still in the hospital after birth, the child was removed from the care and custody of her parents, who resided together at the time of removal.

The Child was adjudicated a youth in need of care on February 10, 2022. Order of Adjudication, Doc. 23. On June 28, 2022, the Court approved treatment plans for each parent. Orders Approving Treatment Plans, Docs. 41, 42. On October 13, 2022, The Court determined that ICWA did not apply. Order on ICWA Applicability, Doc. 54.

The Department moved for an extension of Temporary Legal Custody on August 9, 2022. Petition for Extension of TLC, Affidavit in Support, Motion to Continue TLC Pending Hearing, Order of Continuation, Docs. 44, 45, 46, 47. The Court approved the request at the hearing on September 28, 2022, and memorialized that finding in its Order of October 13, 2022, extending TLC. Minute Entry, 9-28-22, Doc. 52, Order Extending TLC, Doc. 55.

At a status hearing on January 11, 2023, The Department and parties noted that the parents were engaged in services, visitation, working on their treatment plans

- 2 -

and in contact with their attorneys and the Department, but that Father had recently been arrested and was incarcerated. Transcript, Status Hearing of 1-11-23, p. 6. 1. 25 to p. 8, 1. 23; p. 9, 1. 23 to p. 10, 1. 5. Whan deputy county attorney Donahue noted that temporary legal custody would expire in February, the Court declined to set a hearing until after the a new Petition for TLC was filed. The court did grant a bridging order to extend TLC until a petition could be filed and a hearing held "in the near future". Order Continuing TLC Until Hearing, January 18, 2023, Doc. 63. But a new petition for extension of TLC was never filed, and the six-month period of temporary legal custody expired on February 9, 2023. Mother's counsel filed a notice of failure to follow statutory deadline on April 14, 2021, Notice, Doc. 70, which was never addressed by the Court.

On April 11, 2023, the Department filed petitions to terminate the parents' parent rights, with supporting affidavits. Petition and Affidavit, Docs. 65, 66, 67. The petition against Father sought termination on the grounds that he failed to successfully complete a treatment plan, pursuant to 41-3-609(1)(f), M.C.A. No other basis for termination of Father's parental rights was pleaded in the Petition or the supporting Affidavit.

The Department initially agreed to a guardianship, to which the parents also stipulated, but later reneged and asked the Court to reset the matter for a termination hearing. Transcript, Status Hearing of July 12, 2023, p. 9, l. 15-17, p. 11, l. 15-19.

The termination hearing was held on May 13, 2024. After presentation of evidence and argument, the Court took the matter under advisement. Minute Entry, Doc. 119. The Court Issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and its Order terminating the parents' parental rights on May 31, 2024, based on an unpled theory of previous termination to other sibling under similar circumstances. Order, Doc. 125.

Father appealed.

#### **FACTS**

### A. Facts Relating to Issue One, Inadequacy of the Termination Order:

1. The Termination Order, which gives rise to the legal issues presented in Issue 1, is attached in the Appendix hereto. Termination Order, 5-31-24, Doc. 125.

#### Issue 1.a., Termination Based on New Theory in Order.

2. The Petition for Termination of Father's parental rights and supporting Affidavit only set forth one legal theory for termination: failure of a court-ordered treatment plan under 41-3-609(1)(f), M.C.A. Petition for Termination of Father's Parental Rights, Doc. 66, p. 2; Affidavit Supporting Termination Petition, Doc. 67, pp. 6-10, pars. 24-34.

3. The Termination Order based termination of father's parental rights on a different statutory basis, the previous termination of parent's other children under circumstance relevant to parent's ability to care for the child at issue in this case under 41-3-423(2)(e) and 41-3-609(1)(d), M.C.A.

4. The "previous termination of parent's other children" basis for termination was neither argued not discussed nor supported by evidence at the termination hearing. Transcript, Termination Hearing, 5-13-24, pp 4-51.

#### **Issue 1.b., Insufficient, Incomplete Findings of Fact:**

5. The Termination Order contains only nine specifically designated findings of fact, all of which are preliminary, jurisdictional, or procedural. Doc 125,

- 5 -

p. 2, FoF pars. 1-9.

6. Following the Findings of Fact is a five-paragraph section entitled **Termination of Father's Parental Rights**, which includes:

a. One paragraph setting forth the Department's termination theory of failure to complete an appropriate treatment plan, Doc. 125, p. 2-3, ToFPR par. 1; and

b. Four paragraphs of boilerplate language setting forth stitched-together bits and pieces of the provisions of 41-3-609(1), (1)(d)(ii); -(3); and -(2), M.C.A. which, aside from a statement that Father has done nothing, present summary legal conclusions and make no reference to the record other than a brief reference to an Affidavit (presumably the affidavit in support of the termination petition). Doc. 125, p.3. ToFPR pars. 2-5.

### **Issue 1.c., Insufficient Conclusions of Law:**

7. There are only four substantive Conclusions of Law.

8. The Court concludes that that Termination is supported by clear and convincing evidence "as set forth above" establishing that a treatment plan was not required and Father had parental rights to a child's sibling involuntarily terminated under circumstances relevant to his ability to care for the child at issue, pursuant to 41-3-609(4)(a), M.C.A., 41-3-609(1)(d), M.C.A., and 41-3-423(2)(e), M.C.A.; Doc. 125, pp. 3-4, CoL par. 4.

9. There are three Conclusions of Law relating to the legal theory of failure to complete a treatment plan, determining that:

a. Continuation of the parent-child relationship would like result in continued abuse and neglect; an element under 41-3-609(1)(f) and -(2),
M.C.A. of whether there a treatment plan can be completed in a reasonable amount of time;

b. Father's conduct of emotional illness, mental health illness, and unaddressed chemical abuse rendering him unable to parent is unlikely to change within a reasonable time, an element relating to failure to complete a treatment plan under 41-3-609(1)(f)(ii), M.C.A.; and

c. The best interests of the Child would be served by termination, 41-3-609(1)(f), -(2), and -(3), M.C.A.

# **B.** Facts relating to Issue 2, *Termination Wrongly Sought for Failure to Complete Treatment Plan When Parent Incarcerated*:

10. Father had been released from Department of Corrections incarceration three months before the petition was filed. Affidavit in Support of Petition for Adjudication, Doc. 2, p. 6, pars. 20(e), -(f).

11. Father was under supervision of DOC Probation and Parole from 2023 beginning of the case until early January, 2023, when he was arrested and

incarcerated in the Butte-Silver Bow Detention Center. Transcript, Status Hearing, 1-11-23, p. 9, l. 23 to p. 10, l. 19.

12. At the time of his incarceration in early January of 2023, Father was actively engaged in completing his treatment plan, was visiting his child, was engaging in services, and was communicating with the Department. *Id*.

13. Father remained incarcerated when the Termination Petition was filed. Petition for Termination, Doc. 66, p. 1, par. 3.

14. In August of 2023, Father was transferred from the County Detention Center to the Department of Corrections after sentencing. Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 15, l. 10-13.

15. Father remained incarcerated with the DOC at the time of the Termination Hearing. Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 21, l. 23-25.

16. Once Father became incarcerated in early January, 2023, the Department ceased all efforts to assist father in completion of his treatment plan, including ending all communications with the Department and all visitations with M.S-L. Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 26, l. 10-22, p. 29, l. 6-19.

17. Department representative Jennifer Hoerauf testified at the termination hearing that she did not know what the ultimate result was of Father's criminal charges, only that he was transferred to Montana State Prison.

- 8 -

## C. Facts Relating to Issue 3, Lack of Clear and Convincing Evidence To Support Termination For Failure To Complete Treatment Plan.

18. The treatment plan required Father to complete an approved parenting class. The Department recommended one, and Father completed it. Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 18, l. 3-9.

19. The treatment plan provided for visitation and contact between Father and Child. The Department provided two visits per week initially, then one per week when the child was moved to Kalispell in June, 2022. The parents attended the local visits regularly but became more sporadic when the child was moved to Kalispell. Visit interactions were positive, the child was bonding well with her parents, the parents were prepared for visitation, they went to some of the child's doctor appointments, and celebrated her birthday with her. Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 32, l. 1 to p. 33, l. 22.

20. The treatment plan required father to complete a chemical dependency evaluation and follow the recommendations. Father likely completed one on his own as condition precedent to admission to the methadone program. **The Department never obtained a copy of it.** Doc. 67, p. 7. Par. 27; Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 12, 1. 1-25.

21. The treatment required Father to participate in ongoing drug testing.Father was tested regularly by his probation and parole officer. The department

- 9 -

**never obtained those test results and instead demanded he undergo additional testing.** Father agreed to wear a drug patch and the first patch was attached approximately one week before he was arrested in early January, 2023, so he was unable to provide any patch results. He signed a release for the Department to obtain the patch results. Transcript, Status Hearing, January 11, 2023, p. 7, 1. 12-20; Affidavit Supporting Petition for Termination, p. 7. par. 27; Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 21, 1. 9-14., p. 28, 1. 5-24.

22. The treatment plan required Father to complete a mental health evaluation. He did so on his own and provided the Department with a release to obtain the results. **The Department never obtained the mental health evaluation and insisted that he obtain another one.** Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 19, 1. 1-12.

23. The Department offered treatment team meetings every other week, which the parents sporadically attended. Transcript, Termination Hearing, p. 15, l.
19 to p. 16, l. 10. p. 20, l. 7-12. Just before Father's incarceration, the parents re checking in and participating regularly. Transcript, Status Hearing, 1-11-23, p. 6, l.
25 to p. 7, l. 14.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews a district court's decision to terminate parental rights for an abuse of discretion, and reviews a district court's findings of fact for clear error and its conclusions of law for correctness. *In re A.L.P., 2020 MT 87, 399 Mont. 504, 510, 461 P.3d 136, 140.* An abuse of discretion occurs when the district court has either acted arbitrarily without employment of conscientious judgment or exceeded the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice. *In re E.Y.R., 2019 MT 189, 396 Mont. 515, 528, 446 P.3d 1117, 1124.* The Department has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the statutory criteria for termination have been satisfied. *Id.* 

This Court reviews alleged procedural due process violations to determine whether the process violates this constitutional guarantee. *Wong v. City of Billings, 252 Mont. 111, 827 P.2d 90, (1992).* 

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The district court erred in terminating Father's parental rights on an unpled, unargued theory with no evidentiary support at the termination hearing.

2. The district court's order was legally and constitutionally deficient in lacking sufficient, relevant, and specific findings of fact and conclusions of law necessary to support termination of Father's parental rights.

3. Termination of Father's parental rights on treatment plan related grounds was inappropriate because he was incarcerated at the time the termination petition was filed and for a substantial period during the pendency of the case in district court.

4. There was not clear and convincing evidence that Father did not engage in his treatment plan, that any condition rendering him unfit to parent was unlikely to change within a reasonable time, or that the Department engaged in reasonable efforts to reunify Father with his child.

- 12 -

#### **ARGUMENT**

# <u>The District Court Erred in Granting Termination Under 41-3-609(1)(d),</u> <u>M.C.A.</u>

The Department moved for Termination of Father's parental rights on the grounds that he failed to complete his treatment plan, pursuant to 41-3-609(1)(f), M.C.A. This was the only statutory basis for termination set forth in the Department's Petition for Termination. It was the only theory for factually supported and analyzed in the Department's Affidavit in support of the Petition for Termination. It was the only theory on which evidence was presented and argument was made at the termination hearing.

However, after the termination hearing, the district court, *sua sponte*, ordered termination on a completely different legal theory: that Father had his parental rights to a sibling of M.S-L involuntarily terminated and the circumstances related to that termination are relevant to the parent's ability to adequately care for the child at issue, and that therefore a treatment plan was not required, pursuant to 41-3-609(1)(d), -(4)(a), and 41-3-423(2)(e), M.C.A.

# The Sua Sponte post-termination change of termination theory denied Father his due process rights to contest.

This Court has held that, given the fundamental liberty interest at issue in termination of parental rights proceedings, allowing a party to amend pleadings at the termination hearing to proceed under a different theory creates a question of due process. *In re T.C., 2001 MT 264, 307 Mont. 244, 249-250, 37 P.3d 70, 75.* Due process requires that a party receive notice, be allowed the opportunity to be heard, and have an adequate opportunity to prepare his case on the new issues. *Id.* This Court has held clearly that amendment of issues during a termination hearing can be a denial of due process that is reversable error:

A natural parent's right to care and custody of a child is a fundamental liberty interest, which courts must protect with fundamentally fair procedures. *See In re E.W.*, 1998 MT 135, ¶ 12, 289 Mont. 190, ¶ 12, 959 P.2d 951, ¶ 12 (citing *In re R.B.* (1985), 217 Mont. 99, 103, 703 P.2d 846, 848). Due process requires that a party receive notice and be allowed the opportunity to be heard. *See In re A.E.* (1992), 255 Mont. 56, 62, 840 P.2d 572, 576 (citing *Byrd v. Columbia Falls Lions Club* (1979), 183 Mont. 330, 332, 599 P.2d 366, 367). Allowing a party to amend the pleadings creates a question of due process in cases where the defendant may not have had an adequate opportunity to prepare her case on the new issues raised by the amended pleadings. *See Brothers v. Surplus Tractor Parts Corp.* (1973), 161 Mont. 412, 418, 506 P.2d 1362, 1365.

Generally, a district court cannot grant leave to amend the pleadings arbitrarily or perfunctorily. *See Brothers*, 161 Mont. at 418, 506 P.2d at 1365. In assessing whether DPHHS's pleadings gave notice of the issue of abandonment, we look at DPHHS's claim as a whole and to "the reason and spirit of the allegations in ascertaining its real purpose." *See Montanans for the Responsible Use of the School Trust v. State ex rel. Board of Land Comm'rs*, 1999 MT 263, ¶ 29, 296 Mont. 402, ¶ 29, 989 P.2d 800, ¶ 29 (citing *Miller v. Titeca* (1981), 192 Mont. 357, 364, 628 P.2d 670, 675). While there are occasions when we will allow a party to amend the pleadings in order for a case to proceed efficiently on the merits, we see no reason to do so here. *See Brothers*, 161 Mont. at 418, 506 P.2d at 1365.

DPHHS's petition, as a whole, did not provide sufficient notice to Christie on the charge of abandonment. In its petition, DPHHS alleged that Todd had abandoned the two children, but did not make a similar allegation against Christie. Christie first learned at the hearing that DPHHS sought to terminate her parental rights based on a theory of abandonment. While some of the facts alleged in DPHHS's petition may have been applicable to a theory of abandonment, Christie should not be required to glean from those facts which claims DPHHS could bring. We find this particularly true where DPHHS's petition asserted a claim of abandonment against Todd but not Christie. DPHHS's only reason for not mentioning abandonment as an independent theory concerning Christie was its statement at trial that it was a "technical deficiency." Such a deficiency was more than technical; it was misleading. It was DPHHS's responsibility to articulate the claims it expected to raise.

We thus conclude that the District Court erred in allowing DPHHS to amend the pleadings during the hearing to include a theory of abandonment.

In re T.C., 2001 MT 264, ¶ 22-25, 307 Mont. 244, 249–50, 37 P.3d 70, 75.

The present case is more egregious than the situation in *T.C.* because here, there was no motion to amend, and no opportunity for Father to prepare his case on these new issues.

The Petition for Termination and supporting Affidavit provide no notice of an intent by the Department to pursue this theory, most likely because the Department did not intend to pursue this theory. The only reference to the previous cases seems to be in the Affidavit in support of the initial Petition for Adjudication, which provides summary information of previous case history.

The "prior termination of sibling" provision of the termination statute is not self-executing. This Court has made clear that statute does not create a presumption against the parent. *In re T.S.B., 2008 MT 23, 341 Mont. 204, 215, 177 P.3d 429, 437.* 

Rather, the Department retains the burden of showing, by clear and convincing evidence, that the circumstances related to the prior termination of parental rights as to the siblings are still relevant to the parent's ability to care for the child at issue in the current proceeding. *Id.* No such evidence was offered at the termination hearing. There was no request for the Court to take judicial notice of the previous terminations. There was no testimony regarding this issue at all.

Under the principles enunciated in *T.C.* and *T.S.B.*, the district court's reliance on an unpled theory as the basis for terminating Father's parental rights denied Father due process and the termination decision should be reversed.

# The District Court's termination order provided no adequate basis for the termination of Father's parental rights.

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