IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0388

IN THE MATTER OF:

M.S.-L.,

A Youth In Need of Care.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court,
Silver Bow County, The Honorable Robert Whelan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
KATIE F. SCHULZ
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
kschulz@mt.gov

KELLI JOHNSON FIVEY
Interim County Attorney
155 West Granite
Butte, MT 59701

MARK A. VUCUROVICH
Special Deputy County Attorney
116 West Granite Street
P.O. Box 399
Butte, MT 59703

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
AND APPELLEE

ALLEN P. LANNING

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Father was not denied due process. It was clear throughout the TPR proceedings that DPHHS was seeking an order terminating Father's parental rights for his failure to successfully complete his treatment plan, not a prior involuntary termination of his parental rights. Father is correct that the district court's written TPR order referenced two inapplicable TPR theories, but those references were not supported by any accompanying findings and were clerical errors. Moreover, Father cannot establish how inclusion of two inapplicable statutes in the TPR order prejudiced him. Father was not denied fundamentally fair procedures as he was represented by counsel throughout the proceedings, was given notice of all proceedings, and had the opportunity to respond to DPHHS's request to terminate his parental rights.

Substantial, credible evidence supported the district court's findings that Father failed to successfully complete his treatment plan despite the appropriate

services and referrals made by DPHHS to assist him and the fact he was not incarcerated for the first year of DPHHS's intervention. When DPHHS drafted Father's treatment plan, there was no reason to tailor the tasks in anticipation of Father being incarcerated. Nothing in the record suggests Father's ability to engage in the offered services were hampered by anything other than his disinterest in achieving sobriety and remaining law abiding. The record is undisputed that Father failed to successfully complete any goal of his treatment plan.

Substantial, credible evidence supported the district court's determination that the condition/conduct rendering Father unfit to safely parent was unlikely to change in a reasonable period of time. In making this determination, the court correctly looked to Father's untreated substance abuse and current status as an inmate at MSP. Father did not present any evidence to the district court to establish that had different or additional services been offered before he was incarcerated or while he was incarcerated, he would have actually engaged in those services. Nor did Father present any evidence establishing that had DPHHS facilitated visits with him and M.S-L. while he was in jail or at prison he would have demonstrated he could change in a reasonable period of time.

The record further establishes that DPHHS provided reasonable efforts and that Father has not demonstrated that DPHHS's alleged insufficient efforts frustrated his ability to demonstrate the conduct/condition rendering him unfit/unwilling to

parent could change in a reasonable period of time. Father's access to services was never impeded by DPHHS's actions. DPHHS acted in good faith in trying to assist Father to overcome the issues that brought M.S-L. into protective care and provided reasonable efforts to facilitate reunification. Father's parental rights were not terminated because of any missing or inadequate efforts by DPHHS. Father's rights were terminated because he failed to successfully complete his plan, which left his substance abuse issues untreated while he continued his criminal thinking and behaviors that ultimately led to his long-term incarceration.

Finally, Father has not established how the alleged insufficient findings in the court's written TPR order constitutes reversible error. Under the unique facts of this case, including Father's long-term incarceration and undisputed record establishing he failed to engage in offered services prior to his incarceration, the doctrine of implied findings is applicable here. The lack of details in the court's order does not nullify the clear and convincing evidence that DPHHS met its burden under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f). The best interests of M.S-L. should be protected despite errors that have no impact on the ultimate result.

Alternatively, should this Court find the district court's order infirm, the proper remedy would be to remand this matter to the district court with instructions to issue an amended TPR order addressing in more detail the required and applicable statutory criteria.

ARGUMENT

I. Father was afforded fundamentally fair procedures when the district court granted DPHHS's TPR petition under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f).

Father argues that the district court violated his due process rights to notice and opportunity by terminating his rights pursuant to Mont Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(d). (Opening Brief (Br.) at 13-16.) The record refutes Father's claim that he was denied fundamentally fair procedures. Moreover, the record demonstrates that the court's erroneous statutory reference was a clerical error that did not invalidate the court's orders.

A parent's right to the care and custody of a child is a fundamental liberty interest, which must be protected by fundamentally fair procedures. *C.B.*, ¶ 18 (in TPR proceedings, “guiding due process principle requires that the parent not be placed at an unfair disadvantage”). “Due process is not a fixed concept but a flexible doctrine which must be tailored to each situation to meet the needs and protect the interests of the parties involved.” *Id.* Fundamentally fair proceedings are composed of two key factors: notice and opportunity to be heard. *Id.* “[T]o establish a claim for violation of due process, [the parent] must demonstrate how the outcome would have been different had the alleged due process violation not occurred.” *Id.*

In its TPR petition and at the TPR hearing, DPHHS relied upon subsection Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f) (failed treatment plan) as its legal theory to terminate both parents' rights. However, in its conclusions of law, the court erroneously included a reference to Mont Code Ann. §§ 41-3-423(2)(e) and 609(1)(d) (prior involuntary TPR)- and Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(4)(a) (no treatment plan required if criteria at § 41-3-423(2)(e) met). This clerical mistake does not constitute reversible error.

The TPR transcript clearly establishes that DPHHS, the parents' counsel, the GAL, M.S-L.'s counsel, and the district court understood the theory of TPR was a failed treatment plan and not a prior involuntary termination proceeding. During the TPR hearing, DPHHS presented evidence to support its theory of TPR under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f) and offered no evidence or argument that it was relying on a prior order involuntarily terminating Father's parental rights. The parents' closing remarks also reflect that the TPR theory at issue was failed treatment plans.

Notably, following Father's closing remarks questioning whether his treatment plan had been approved, the district court reviewed the procedural history and reminded counsel that the plans had been approved. Then, in its written TPR orders, the court reiterated DPHHS's failed treatment plan legal theory under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f) in its findings of fact and in its

conclusions of law, the court stated that Father’s conduct was unlikely to change within a reasonable period of time using the statutory language from Mont. Code Ann. §§ 41-3-609(1)(f)(ii) and (2).

Inclusion of the two inapplicable TPR provisions—that were neither pled by DPHHS nor argued at the TPR hearing—constitute a clerical or scrivener’s error that did not infringe on Father’s due process rights.

There is little doubt that the district court did not intend to terminate Father’s rights based on an alleged prior involuntary termination and that the reference to the erroneous provisions was not substantive, but rather a scrivener’s or clerical error. Such an error constitutes a “minor mistake or inadvertence and not from judicial reasoning or determination; esp. a drafter’s or typist’s technical error that can be rectified without serious doubt about the correct reading.” *In re Marriage of Schaub*, 2024 MT 229, ¶ 24 n.6, 418 Mont. 297, 557 P.3d 924 (citing Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)).

The district court terminated Father’s parental rights under the theory DPHHS presented in its petition at the TPR hearing. Father cannot demonstrate that if the erroneous statutory references were not included in the court’s TPR order, the outcome would be any different. *In re B.J.J.*, 2019 MT 129, ¶ 13, 396 Mont. 108, 443 P.3d 488 (to establish due process violation, parent must establish outcome would have been different had the error not occurred).

Furthermore, Father was afforded fundamentally fair procedures to defend against that theory of TPR.

At all times during these proceedings, Father was represented by counsel and was never denied notice or an opportunity to respond to DPHHS's petitions. Father received notice that DPHHS sought to terminate his parental rights for a failed treatment plan. The TPR hearing was continued to ensure Father could attend the proceedings through video conference from MSP.

Father declined the opportunity to present evidence on his behalf at the TPR hearing, but cross-examined Hoerauf and offered closing remarks challenging whether timelines were met, if DPHHS met its obligation to make reasonable efforts, and if the court had approved his treatment plan. During its closing remarks, DPHHS reiterated that it was seeking TPR based on the parents' failure to successfully complete their treatment plans. DPHHS did not seek to amend its TPR theory to include a prior termination of Father's parental rights. Nor did the court terminate Father's rights pursuant to that theory.

There is no question that Father was afforded fundamentally fair procedures. *C.B.*, ¶ 18; *In re A.P.*, 2007 MT 297, ¶ 22, 340 Mont. 39, 172 P.3d 105 (fundamentally fair process provided when parent participated in a hearing on the merits while represented by counsel).

Father's secondary due process claim is essentially an attack on the sufficiency of the court's findings. (Br. at 16-20.) Father's argument is misplaced. The sufficiency of a court's findings does not implicate the fundamental fairness of a proceeding, which concerns notice and opportunity to be heard *before* the court issues its order.

The resulting TPR order issued by a court is reviewed for abuse of discretion and "will not be disturbed on appeal unless 'there is a mistake of law or a finding of fact not supported by substantial evidence that would amount to a clear abuse of discretion.'" *In re M.V.R.*, 2016 MT 309, ¶ 22, 385 Mont. 448, 384 P.3d 1058 (citing *In re A.S.*, 2016 MT 156, ¶ 11, 384 Mont. 41, 373 P.3d 848). Father has not established that the district court abused its discretion when it concluded that DPHHS had established the statutory criteria at Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f)(i) by clear and convincing evidence. *R.K.*, ¶ 21; *D.F.*, ¶ 22.

II. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it terminated Father's parental rights.

While parents possess fundamental liberty interests in their right to maintain custody of their child, those rights are constrained by the child's constitutional rights to be free from abuse and neglect. The balance is struck in the laws governing termination of parental rights, which include a statutory mandate that

primary consideration must be given to the needs of the child. Mont. Code Ann.

§ 41-3-609(3); *In re X.B.*, 2015 MT 153, ¶ 21, 392 Mont. 15, 420 P.3d 538.

When considering termination of a parent's rights, “[t]he paramount concern is the health and safety of the child, and the district court must give ‘primary consideration to the physical, mental and emotional conditions and needs of the child.’” *In re E.Z.C.*, 2013 MT 123, ¶ 22, 370 Mont. 116, 300 P.3d 1174 (citation omitted). “[T]he best interests of the children are of paramount concern in a parental rights termination proceeding and take precedence over the parental rights.” *In re K.L.*, 2014 MT 28, ¶ 15, 373 Mont. 421, 318 P.2d 691 (citation omitted).

The district court terminated Father's parental rights pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f). To terminate a parent's rights under that provision, the following criteria must be established:

[T]he child is an adjudicated youth in need of care and both of the following exist: (i) an appropriate treatment plan that has been approved by the court has not been complied with by the parents or has not been successful; and (ii) the conduct or condition of the parents rendering them unfit is unlikely to change within a reasonable time.

Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f).

If the child at issue is not an Indian child, DPHHS must prove the TPR statutory criteria by clear and convincing evidence. Mont. Code Ann.

§§ 41-3-422(5)(a)(iv), -609(1). This Court has defined clear and convincing evidence in the context of parental rights cases as:

simply a requirement that a preponderance of the evidence be definite, clear, and convincing, or that a particular issue must be clearly established by a preponderance of the evidence or by a clear preponderance of proof.

D.B., ¶ 29 (internal citations omitted).

A. Substantial, credible evidence supported the court's finding that Father failed to successfully complete his treatment plan.

It is undisputed that Father did not complete his treatment plan and that his plan was unsuccessful. A parent successfully completes a plan when he effectuates the purposes for which the plan had been designed. *In re L.H.*, 2007 MT 70, ¶ 19, 336 Mont. 405, 154 P.3d 622; Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f)(i).

Father argues that the district court erred to the extent it found Father failed to complete his treatment plan because he was incarcerated and faults DPHHS for not revising his plan upon his incarceration. (Br. at 20-22.) The record undermines Father's claim.

DPHHS drafted treatment plans for the parents after the adjudicatory hearing in February 2022. Father was on parole at the time and not in custody. DPHHS did not need to tailor his plan in anticipation of him being incarcerated.

While the plans were still pending approval, DPHHS was offering supervised visitations and directed the parents to where to obtain mental health and CD

evaluations. Father was not incarcerated and nothing prevented him from attending visits or beginning the evaluation process. However, Father did not attend all the visits and refused to follow through with the evaluations because he accused Crosby of trying to set him up. Father also continued using methamphetamine and would not work with Crosby when she attempted to discuss his plan for relapse prevention.

DPHHS sent the proposed plans to the parents and their counsel, who acknowledged receiving them as of mid-March 2022. It does not appear Father opposed the recommended tasks and goals that addressed the conduct/condition rendering him unable to safely parent. Rather, Father took issue only with the language DPHHS used to describe the reason for its intervention. Resolution of this dispute delayed approval of the plans, but did not alter the fact DPHHS was offering services or the fact Father was subject to conditions of parole which included abstinence from drug use.

However, despite the court approving his treatment plan in June 2022 and him being subject to parole conditions, Father failed to submit to UA testing, regularly attend visits, obtain either a CD or mental health evaluation, or maintain contact with Crosby. From June 2022 until his parole was revoked and he was charged with planning to distribute methamphetamine, Father faced no barriers that prevented him from working on the tasks set forth in his plan.

Father failed to avail himself of the opportunities and services he needed to complete his treatment plan. “[A] parent has an obligation to avail herself of services arranged or referred by [DPHHS] and engage with [DPHHS] to successfully complete her treatment plan.” *In re R.J.F.*, 2019 MT 113, ¶ 38, 395 Mont. 454, 443 P.3d 387 (citations omitted).

Father’s own actions hampered his ability to complete his treatment plan. As repeatedly held by this Court, complete compliance by the parents with a treatment plan is required; partial or even substantial compliance is insufficient under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(f)(i). *X.B.*, ¶ 28. Contrary to Father’s arguments on appeal, DPHHS’s lack of contact with him *after* his parole was revoked and he was incarcerated on new felony drug charges did not cause Father to fail his treatment plan. (Br. at 20-21.) But for Father’s decision to engage in criminal conduct, he would have had access to service providers and programs to help him achieve the goals of his treatment plan. The record also refutes Father’s claim that he was “actively” engaged with his treatment plan prior to his incarceration. (Br. at 21.)

While Crosby testified in January 2023 that Father and Mother had better communications as of late, Father had continued using methamphetamine and was found in possession of a large quantity of methamphetamine. Father’s continued criminal behaviors resulted in him being incarcerated for violating his parole and

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